IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

LORENZO TAYLOR,

1301 SOUTH ARLINGTON RIDGE RD.,
#401

ARLINGTON, VA 22202

CIVIL ACTION NO.

Plaintiff,

VS.

official capacity as United States
Secretary of Sate

UNITED STATESDEPARTMENT
OF STATE

2201 C STREET N.W.
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20520

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

COLIN L. POWELL, in his )
)

)

)

)

)

)

)

Defendant. )
)

COMPLAINT, REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT
AND JURY DEMAND

Plantiff Lorenzo Taylor filesthis Complaint againgt Defendant Colin L. Powdl in his

official capacity asUnited States Secretary of State, and alleges the following:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. Thisis an action brought pursuant to the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. §8
791, et seq., for redress of unlawful discrimination on the bads of disability.

2. As explained in more detail below, this adion stems from the refusal of the United



States Department of State (hereinafter the “ Department”) to hire Mr. Taylor as a Foreign Service
Officer because he is infected with the human immunodeficiency virus (hereinafter “HIV”). To
remedy thisviolation of the Rehabilitation Act, Mr. Taylor seeks declaratory and injunctive relief,
compensatory damages, and attorneys' fees and costs.

3. Mr. Taylor learned that he was infected with HIV in March 1985. In the eighteen
years since hisinitial diagnosis, he has remained asymptomatic, and has suffered no serious
illnesses or Al DS-defining opportunigtic infections. Hisonly HIV -rdlated medical needs are semi-
annual checkups and a daily regimen of medication. Mr. Taylor isin good hedth.

4. Mr. Taylor has a long record of public service, having worked for the Department
from 1979 to 1988, and for the United States Department of Health and Human Servicessince
1999. He has long wanted to be aForeign Service Officer and fill hopesto serve hiscountry in
that capadity.

5. Mr. Taylor applied for a position as a Foreign Service Officer in July 2001, passed
the requisite written and ord examinations, and received a conditional offer of employment from
the Department in November of that year. After Mr. Taylor disclosed his HIV status during a
physical examination, however, the Department informed him that he would not be granted the
medical clearance required for service abroad. Given hisgood health, Mr. Taylor sought a waiver
of the denid of medicd clearance, but hisrequest was denied in July 2002. After timdy
contacting an Equal Employment Opportunity (hereinefter “EEQO”) counselor in August 2002,
Mr. Taylor filed a formal adminidrative complaint which produced no relief.

6. The Depatment rejected Mr. Taylor's gpplication for employment pursuant toits

policy against hiring HIV -positive candidates for positions as career Foreign Service Officers



Indeed, during Mr. Taylor’s medical examination in December 2001, he received aform stating
that “[b]ecause new applicants for the Foreign Service must be worldwideavailabe (Class 1),
those who are HI'V positive will not be digible for employment.” Similarly, in August 2001, the
Department publicly issued a“media note” stating that “those [Foreign Service Officer

candidat eg) testing positive are not offered employment in the Foreign Service.” In contrast, the
Department will retain Foreign Service Officers who test positive for HIV while employed but
who exhibit no signs of immune suppresson. Such individuals are granted Class |1 medical
clearance and approved for limited over seas duty.

7. The Department’ s discriminatory policy against job applicants who are HIV-
positive reflects the widespread misunderstanding and fear of HIV that persist throughout
American society even in the face of greatly expanded sdentific knowledgeabout the virus, its
modes of trangmission, and treatment of thosewho are infected. The course and treatment of
HIV has changed drametically since the Department first conceived its policy baming HIV-
positive candidates two decades ago. T oday, thanks in part to significant medical breakthroughs,
peopleliving with HIV like Mr. Taylor often live long and healthy lives with few, if any,
symptomsof HIV. Nonetheless the Department dingsto the antiquated assumption that a//
people living with HIV, regardless of their actua physical condition, are especidly fragile and
require near-constant monitoring and medical atention.

8. Mr. Taylor belies this stereotype. He has never suffered a serious HIV-related
illness, has never been hospitaized for an HIV-rdated illness, and has traveled throughout the
world without medicd incident. By concluding that Mr. Taylor’sheathistoo poor to permit

overseas work, the Department has capitulated to an outdated and inaccurate generalization about



people with HIV.

9. The Depatment’s discriminatory refusal to hire qualified candidateslike Mr.
Taylor violates the Rehabilitation Act and the Department’ s own regulations, both of which
mandate that candidates be assessed on the basis of their individual qualifications rather than
accordingto serectype. By refusing to grant Mr. Taylor the medica clearance or waiver that his
good health warrants, the Department violated federal law.

10.  The Department’s discriminatory treatment of Mr. Taylor also ranafou of
Secretary Powell’s own public exhortation not to discriminate against peoplewith HIV. Ina
speechto international bus nessleaders in June 2002, Secretary Powell urged corporate leade's to
“implement fair employment practices to ensure there is no discrimination related to a person’s
HIV status — no stigmatization. They are jud like anyone else. Thisis one of those lessons we
have to get to dl employers and nations around the world.” Less than one month after issuing
this plea for equad treatment, Secretary Powdl’s D epartment findly informed Mr. Taylor that it

would not offer him a position in the Foreign Service.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11.  ThisCourt hasjurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 881331 and 1343(a)(4). This
actionis authorized pursuart to 29 U.S.C. 88 791 and 794, and 29 C.F.R. § 1614.203. This court
has jurisdction to issue a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §8§ 2201 and 2202.

12.  Venueis proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (e) because Defendant Colin L.
Powell residesinthisjudicial district and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise

to this complaint ocaurred in thisjudicial district.



PARTIES

13. Paintiff Lorenzo Taylor isacitizen of the United States and residesin Arlington,
Virginia. At all times relevant hereto, Mr. Taylor has been a person living with HIV, whichisa
disability within the meaning of the Rehabilitation Act.

14. Deéendant Colin L. Powdl isthe United States Secretary of State, head of a
federal department in this judicial district that is subject to the Rehabilitation Act. The United
States Foreign Service is an agency of the State Department and is therefor e prohibited, pursuant
to the Rehabilitation Act, from discriminating against otherwise qualified people with disabilities

in the termsor conditions of employment.

FACTS

15. Mr. Taylor realeges par agraphs 1-14 of this Complaint asif fully set forth herein.

16.  Oninformation and belief, a Foreign Service Officer’ s duties include performance
of the following functions: establishing and maintaining relations with the government of the
Officer’s country of residence, advising policymakers on economic and political mattersin the
country of residence, and communicating with the United Statesregarding events in the courtry
of residence.

17.  On information and bdief, according to the current policy of the Department,
Foragn Service Officer candidates must passwritten and oral examinations receive asecurity
clearance, and receive a Class | medical clearance or a Class |1 medical clearance via a medical
walver before being offered enployment.

18. Oninformation and belief, the Department has a policy of denying HIV-positive



candidates Class | medical clearances.

19. On information and belief, the Department has a corresponding policy of denying
HIV -positive candidates Class || medical clearances or medicd waivers.

20. On information and belief, the Department has a policy of retainng Foreign
Service Officerswho test positive for HI'V while employed but exhibit no signs of immune
suppression. Such individuals are granted Class || medical clearance and approved for limited
overseas duty.

21. Mr. Taylor wasdiagnosed as having HIV in March1985. Asaresult of his HIV
infection, Mr. Taylor is a personwith adisability within the meaning of the Rehabilitation Act.
Additiondly, the Department regards Mr. Taylor as a person with a disability within the meaning
of the Renabilitation Act.

22. For a number of years, Mr. Taylor has been on aregimen of anti-retroviral
medications to manage his HIV. Thecombination of medicaion tha he currertly takes keeps Mr.
Taylor's viral load (the measure of HIV in hissystem) a very low or undetectable levels, and his
CD4+ T-lymphocyte cell count (the measure of hisimmune sygem health) in a healthy range. Mr.
Taylor receives his medication by mail in 90-day supplies. He currently sees hisHIV physician
only for routine monitoring of his condition. Eighteen years after hisinitial diagnosis as HIV-
positive, Mr. Taylor remains in good health, shows no sigrs of immune suppresson, and is not at
risk for HIV-related complications.

23. In the years since he learned he was HIV-positive, Mr. Taylor hasnever suffered a
serious HIV-related iliness, has never been hospitalized because of his HIV, and hasnever

suffered any AIDS-defining illness. He has engaged in full-time graduate study and work,



successfully performing in postions requiring extensive travel and long hours. Upon receiving the
appropriate vacd nations and immunizations, Mr. Taylor hastraveled without medical incident to
Brazil, Ching Costa Rica, Germany, Russia, Senegal, South Africa, Turkey, and Zimbabwe.

24.  After bang recruited to apply for a podtion in the Foreign Service, Mr. Taylor
formally applied to become a Foreign Service Officer on or about July 14, 2001. He passed the
required written and oral examinations and received a conditional offer of employment dated
November 13, 2001.

25.  Onor about December 27, 2001, Mr. Taylor presented for his pre-employment
medical examination and was givena form stating that “[b]ecause new applicants for the Foreign
Servicemud be worldwide available (Class 1), those who are HIV positive will not beeligilde for
employment.” During this examination, Mr. T aylor disclosed hisHIV statusto a Depart ment
doctor.

26. On or about January 7, 2002, Dr. John Triplett, who was then Chief of the
Depatment’ sMedical Examination Clinic, told Mr. Taylor that hewould not be eligible for
employment as a Foreign Service Officer because he wasHIV-positive. Dr. Triplett informed Mr.
Taylor that he could seek a medical waiver from the Department’ s Employment Review
Committee (hereinafter “ERC”), but that two other candidates with HIV had sought and been
denied waivers in the recent past despite having excellent credentials and unique ills.

27. By letter dated January 17, 2002, Tamale Walton, a Human Resources Specialist
at the State Department, formally informed Mr. Taylor that he had been denied the necessary
medical clearance.

28. By letter dated January 25, 2002, Mr. Taylor requested a medical waiver from the



ERC. In hisrequest, Mr. Taylor asked the Committeeto conduct anindividualized assessment of
his application instead of relying on the Department’ s blanket policy against hiring HI V-positive
candidates. The ERC dened the requested waiver in aletter dated July 15, 2002.

29. On or about August 28, 2002, Mr. Taylor timely contacted the Department’s
Office of Civil Rights (hereinafter “OCR”) to initiate EEO counseling. On or about November 7,
2002, MetaR. FHtzgerdd, the EEO Counselor assigned to Mr. Taylor' s case issued a letter to
Mr. Taylor informing him that he had the right to file aformal adminigtrative complaint with the
OCR.

30.  Onor about November 13, 2002, Mr. Taylor filed aforma administrative
complaint with the OCR. By letter dated December 2, 2002, the OCR accepted Mr. Taylor's
complaint for investigation.

3L On or about June 2, 2003, the OCR completed itsinvestigation, offering no
conclusions regarding the dlegationsinMr. Taylor’ s complairt.

32. By letter dated June 2, 2003, the OCR informed Mr. Taylor of hisright to file a
civil actionin this metter.

33.  Mr. Taylor has exhausted the administrative remedies available to him under the

Rehabilitation Act. All conditions precedent to the institution of this suit have been fulfilled.

COUNT ONE - REHABILITATION ACT 8§ 501

34. Mr. Taylor realeges par agraphs 1-33 of this Complaint asif fully set forth herein.
35.  Section 501 of the Rehahilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 791, prohibits the federal

government from discriminating against otherwise qualified peoplewith disabilitiesinthe termsor



condtions of employment, and requires the federal government to take affirmative actionto
employ people with disabilities who can perform, with or without reasonable accommodation, the
esential functions of a particular job. This prohibition and mandate smilarly protects people
whom the federal government regards as disabled.

36. Due to hisHIV gatus, Mr. Taylor has aphysical impairment that substantialy
limits one or more of hismgor life activities, such that he isa person with a disability within the
meaning of the Rehabilitation Act.

37.  Additionaly, the Department regards Mr. Taylor as a having aphysical impairment
that substantialy limits one or more of his mgor life activities, such that heisaperson with a
disahility within the meaning of the Rehabilitation Act.

38.  Given hisjob skills and physical condition, Mr. Taylor is capable of safely
performing al the essential functions of a Foreign Service Officer without accommodation. The
Department therefore violated section 501 of the Rehahilitation Act when it denied Mr. Taylor a
Class | medical clearance or medical waiver on account of hisHIV status.

39. Inthe dternative, given hisjob skills and physical condition, Mr. Taylor is capable
of safely performing al the essentia functions of a Foreign Service Officer with reasonable
acconmodation such as, but not limitedto, granting Mr. Taylor a Class Il medical dearance or
waiver. The Department violated section 501 of the Rehabilitation Act whenit denied Mr. Taylor
such accommodation and discriminated againg himon the basisof his HIV status

40.  The Depatment violated the Rehabilitation Act by failingto offer Mr. Taylor a
position and by failing to accommodate Mr. Taylor inviolation of section 501’ s requirement that

federal employers take affirmative action to hire otherwise qualified candidates with disabilities.



COUNT TWO - REHABILITATION ACT 8§ 504

41. Mr. T aylor realeges paragraphs 1-40 of this Complaint asif fully set forth herein.

42. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, prohibits federd programs
or activitiesfromdiscriminating against otherwise qualified peoplewith disabilitiesinthe termsor
conditions of employment.

43. Dueto hisHIV satus, Mr. Taylor isaperson with a disability within the meaning
of the Rehahilitation Act, andisregarded as such by the Department.

44.  Given hisjob skills and physical condition, Mr. Taylor is capable of safely
performing al the essential functions of a Foreign Service Officer without accommodation. The
Department therefore violated section 504 of the Rehahilitation Act when it denied Mr. Taylor a
Class | medical clearance or waiver solely on account of hisHIV status.

45, Inthe dternative, given hisjob skills and physcal condition, Mr. Taylor is capable
of safdy performing dl the essentid functions of a Foreign Service Officer with reasonable
accommodation suchas, but not limitedto, granting Mr. Taylor a Class Il medical dearance or
waiver. The Department violated section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act whenit denied Mr. Taylor

such an accommodation and discriminaed against him solely on account of his HIV status

REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

46. Mr. Taylor realleges paragrgphs 1-45 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
47.  Anactual and present controversy exists between Mr. Taylor and the Department

relating to their respective legal rights and duties:

10



@ Mr. Taylor contends that Defendant Colin Powell and the D epart ment have
discriminated against him on the basis of his disability in violation of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and that Mr. Taylor has been damaged ther eby,
and that, as aresult, Mr. Taylor is entitled to relief from this Court; and
(b) On information and belief, Defendant and the Department deny these
contentions, and aver tha the Department’ s policy of declining to hire
people living with HIV as Foreign Service Officers does not violate federal
law.
48.  Ajudicid dedaraion among the partiesis necessary and appropriate a this timein
order that they promptly may ascertain and enforce their respective rights and obligations.
49.  Mr. Taylor isentitled to a declaratory judgment that the Department has
discriminated aga nst him onthe basis of disalility; that the Department’s policy of refusing to
hire HIV-positive applicants as Foreign Service Officers violates the Rehabilitation Act; and that

Mr. Taylor has been damaged thereby, and, as areault, is entitled to relief from this Court.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

50. Plaintiff Lorenzo Taylor demands atrial by jury on all issues.

RELIEF REQUESTED

51 Mr. Taylor realeges par agraphs 1-50 of this Complaint asif fully set forth herein.

WHEREFORE, Mr. Taylor respectfully requests the following:

a) atrid by jury;

11



b) that this Court enter a declaratory judgment that the Department has
discriminated against Mr. T aylor on the basis of disability; that the
Department’ s policy of refusing to hire HIV-positive applicants as Foreign
Service Officers violates the Rehabilitation Act; and tha Mr. Taylor has
been damaged thereby, and, as aresult, is entitled to relief from this Court;

c) that this Court permanently enjointhe Department from enforcing its policy
againgt hiring HIV-positive Foreign Service Officer candidates, including
Mr. Taylor;

d) that this Court order the Department to grant Mr. Taylor aClass | or || medical
clearanceor waiver; or to hireMr. Taylor asa Foreign Service Officer with
appropriate reasonable accommodation;

e) that this Court order the Department to pay Mr. Taylor the value of his lost
wages and berefits, as well as compensatory and punitive damages as
authorized by the Rehahilitation Act;

f) that this Court order the Department to pay attorneys fees and costs as

authorized by law; and

12



g) that this Court order any such further relief as it deems just and proper.

Respedfully submitted, this day of September, 2003.
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Jonathan Givner (California Bar # 208000;
New Y ork Bar # 4090650)

Hayley Gorerberg (New York Bar #
2545754)

LAMBDA LEGAL DEFENSE AND
EDUCATION FUND, INC.

120 Wall Street, Suite 1500

New York, NY 10005-3904

(212) 809-8585

Kathleen A. Behan (D.D.C. Bar #429072)
AmyY. Spencer (D.D.C. Ba #463931)
Leslie M. Hill (D.D.C. Bar #476008)

Cara Petersen (D.C. Bar # 476990)
ARNOLD & PORTER

555 Twelfth Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20004-1206

(202) 942-5000



